
 
 

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

3.00 pm TUESDAY, 10TH MARCH, 2020 
COUNCIL CHAMBER 

 
A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.30 pm.   

This meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 

the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.   

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 
(VVC) Annual Report for 1 April 2018 to 31 March 
2019  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

5 - 30 

4. Children’s Services Strategy   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

31 - 42 

5. Adult Services Accommodation Strategy for Older 
People and Adults with a Learning Disability  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

43 - 72 

6. Forward Work Programme 2019/20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

73 - 86 

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 

 



  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair) 
                     S Jago (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors: G Richards, T Rogers, D Sammon and 

I Thomas 
 
Co-optees: (none) 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 
(VVC) Annual Report for 1 April 2018 to 31 March 
2019 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The VVC Adoption Annual Report which is attached provides information about the 

business of the Regional Adoption Service during 2018-19.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the 

attached report, and identifies any further information it would like to receive 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) is the largest of the five 

regional collaboratives which form part of the National Adoption Service in Wales 
(NAS).  It provides a regional adoption service to the Vale of Glamorgan Council, 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff 
County Borough Council.  The service is hosted by the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

 
3.2  The service functions include: 
 

 Recruitment and Assessment of Adopters 

 Adoption Panel  

 Family Finding 

 Adoption Support 
 

Date Written February 2019  

Report Author Annabel Lloyd  

Service Area Children’s Services 

Committee Date 10th March 2020 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 
4.1 During the year 2018-19, the regional adoption service responded to our high 

demand of business as usual in relation to the adoption process. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The Regional Adoption Management Board meets monthly and receives updates in 

relation to the work of the business plan, performance reporting the budget and other 
challenges and developments.  The Portfolio Councillor for Social Services is a 
member of the Regional Adoption Committee that meets bi-annually and approves 
the budget for the Regional Adoption Collaborative. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 We are making plans for all Merthyr Tydfil looked after young people to achieve safe 

and successful lives and our commitment to the Adoption Service is key to that 
objective for children with a plan for adoption. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Merthyr Tydfil Children’s Services will continue to support the developing work of the 

Regional Adoption Collaborative in pursuit of ensuring successful permanent 
outcomes for younger looked after children with a plan for adoption.  

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 This area of business is located in the following wellbeing objective: 
 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.   

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 Scrutiny Report 2017-18  
 

 February 2020 Council website and Civic Offices. 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

 

Page 6



1 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

VALE, VALLEYS AND CARDIFF ADOPTION COLLABORATIVE (VVC)  

ANNUAL REPORT FOR 1 APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019 

1.  BACKGROUND 

1.1 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) as part of the National 

Adoption Service in Wales (NAS), provides a regional adoption service to the 

Vale of Glamorgan Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cardiff 

Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council.  

1.2  This is VVC’s fourth annual report and covers the period 1 April 2018 to 31 

March 2019 although due to the reporting cycle some areas have been 

updated with current service information. This report seeks to combine the 

reporting requirements set out in regulation and the governance 

arrangements for the region in one report.  

Appendix 1 to the report sets out key performance data by quarter and local 

authority. 

Appendix 2 provides information in respect of adopter enquiries. 

Appendix 3 provides information in respect of Adoption Support. 

2.  SERVICE DEVELOPMENT AND GOVERNANCE 

2.1  The managerial structure of the service during the period has remained the 

same although the Family Finding Manager’s post became vacant in 

November 2018 due the temporary manager leaving her employment and 

long term sickness on the part of the permanent post holder. This resulted in 

the Adoption Support Manager managing two teams until a permanent 

replacement was recruited in August of this year. The Business Support 

Manager also left in November 2018 but this post was successfully recruited 

from the agency cover put in place to cover the position. 

2.2   During 2018, the service was enhanced with agreement to employ additional 

Social Work capacity, partly as a recommendation of the Best Value Review 

but also following acknowledgement by VVC Management Board of the need 

to increase capacity to recruit adopters. This has resulted in an additional five 

Page 7



2 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

Social Work posts; one in Adoption Support, four in Recruitment & 

Assessment and the appointment of a Marketing & Recruitment Co-ordinator 

on a fixed term contract. Two of the Social Workers appointed did not begin 

employment until this financial year. Successful appointments have been 

made to all posts and VVC continues to attract significant interest in terms of 

potential applicants.  

2.3  The Business Support Team within the Collaborative has experienced some 

disruption both last year and into this year in terms of managerial cover, long 

term sickness and staff turnover. Temporary arrangements have been put in 

place which will enable a review of the business support functions to be 

undertaken. 

 

2.4  At the latter part of the year, Welsh Government awarded a grant of £2.3 

million to improve the provision of adoption services in Wales. This grant has 

been allocated on a regional basis to support national and regional priorities. 

VVC Management Board agreed to utilise the grant to support the provision of 

life journey work, better planning for children being placed for adoption and 

improve services to birth parents with the result that a further 2.5 Specialist 

Social Worker posts are being recruited to within the region to support these 

areas. Two unqualified posts to support adoptive families and adopted 

children and young people are also being recruited to which will link directly to 

new initiatives being developed nationally by Adoption UK. In addition 10.5 

Direct Work Practitioners to support life journey work for children being placed 

for adoption have been allocated from the grant monies across the four local 

authorities.   

   

2.5  As outlined in the previous report, the service relocated permanently to the 

Dock Offices in Barry in September 2018. The move was achieved with 

minimal disruption to service delivery and staff have adapted well to the 

change. Agile working and remote working arrangements are in place to 

reduce the amount of travel time across the region. 

 

Page 8



3 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

2.6  The actions recommended by the Best Value Review of the service has 

resulted in some changes to the governance arrangements for the region. The 

Action Plan developed to take forward these actions has been met. 

 

2.7  The Best Value Review of the service recommended a review of the Legal 

Agreement underpinning the Collaborative. This review was completed by the 

Regional Manager and the Vale of Glamorgan Legal Department and agreed 

by the Vale of Glamorgan Cabinet in April 2019. The revised Legal Agreement 

confirms the changes made to the governance structure and allows for a 

review of the Agreement every five years. These revisions have been agreed 

by the partner agencies. 

 

2.8  The significant change in governance arrangements is that VVC Management 

Board has moved to meeting on a quarterly basis and a new tier of 

governance in the form of an Operational Group has been established. The 

composition of the Management Board has remained the same and chairing 

arrangements rotate on an annual basis. The Director for Cardiff Council is 

the current chair. The overall remit of the Management Board is unchanged 

and the Board continues to play a key role in monitoring the performance of 

the regional service highlighting areas for improvement. 

 

2.9  The Operational Group comprises of senior managers in each of the four local 

authorities which meets on a quarterly basis with the regional managers within 

VVC. Terms of reference and a Business Plan for the Operational Group have 

been developed to further monitor performance against key priorities. 

Operational matters, policy and practice issues can also be remitted from the 

Management Board for consideration by this Group. 

   

2.10  The overall governance of the region is via a Joint Committee. Meetings were 

held in June and December 2018 as per the requirements. The Joint 

Committee is comprised of one elected member from each of the authorities 

and is currently chaired by the member from the host authority. The Joint 

Committee approved the annual accounts, budget and annual plan for the 

Collaborative. 

Page 9



4 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

 

 

2.11  The budget for the Collaborative is managed by the Vale of Glamorgan and is 

monitored closely by the Management Board and Joint Committee. The end 

of year position reported a slight underspend in the budget for 2018-19 which 

was subsequently returned to partners. 2018-19 marked the fourth year of 

operation for the Collaborative and as there had been no change to the 

apportionment of the financial contributions made by each partner since its 

inception, the Best Value Review recommended that the original funding 

formula be reviewed and updated. Work was therefore undertaken during the 

year by the four partner authorities to look at the best option and it was 

agreed that a funding formula based on activity and usage of each partner 

would be a more realistic as a way of apportioning costs. 

 

2.12  In order to avoid large swings in contributions it was considered appropriate 

for part of the apportionment to be based on a fixed charge of 20% for each 

partner with 80% of the costs being classed as variable and based on activity/ 

demand being placed on the service. The factors agreed to be used in 

determining activity are the numbers of children looked after, referrals into the 

service, children placed for adoption and requests for adoption support. The 

calculation will be based on the average previous 3 years’ activity in order to 

smooth out any peaks and troughs in demand.  This new method of 

contribution was put in place from 1 April 2019. 

 

2.13  The annual audit undertaken by Bridgend and Vale Internal Audit Shared 

Service in respect of the Collaborative again concluded that the effectiveness 

of the internal control environment within the service was sound and 

“Substantial Assurance” could be placed upon the management of risks. 

 

2.14  The NAS provides a further tier of performance monitoring through the 

provision of quarterly and annual performance data which meet the 

requirements of the NAS Performance Framework. VVC has complied with all 

reporting requirements during the period and has developed a more 

comprehensive spreadsheet to capture the measures, which increase each 

Page 10



5 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

year. Due to the expiry of the existing contract, NAS has commissioned Data 

Cymru to develop a new Performance Framework which will enable data to be 

more easily uploaded by regions and will be provide easier access to 

performance reports. This new system was trialled during the latter part of the 

year by the service. The Business Manager and Regional Adoption Manager 

have been part of a national Steering Group set up to oversee the 

development of the new Framework which will become fully operational during 

2019-20. 

2.15  The Director of Operations for NAS attended VVC Management Board in 

January 2019 to present the VVC’s Mid-Year Report and met with the Head of 

Service for the Vale of Glamorgan and the Regional Adoption Manager in 

June 2019 to discuss VVC’s End of Year Report. This Report was 

subsequently presented to VVC Management Board in July 2019.  Reference 

is made to the overall findings in this report. 

 

3. SERVICE FUNCTIONS 

3.1  VVC has continued to deliver services via three functional teams and staff 

specialise in one service area which focuses accountability and improves 

consistency. Performance against each of these functions is outlined under 

the following sections of the report alongside areas of development.  

 

4. FAMILY FINDING 

4.1  Family Finding and its’ associated activities remains a key area of activity for 

the region and the ability to place children effectively and promptly underpins 

all other activities. As the largest regional Collaborative the level of demand 

placed upon this area and our ability to meet the needs identified remains 

challenging. 

4.2  The number of children referred for adoption totalled 218 which marks a 

decrease on the previous year. Significantly 43% of those referrals were 

withdrawn during the period which represents an increase on 2017-18 and 

Page 11



6 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

may be indicative of the commitment to develop alternative permanency plans 

for children. This in many instances does not equate to a decrease in 

workload for the Family Finding Team as a lot of work has usually been 

undertaken to progress the adoption plan prior to it being discontinued. VVC 

placed 100 children for adoption during the year, a 16% increase on the 

previous year and a very pleasing result for the region. 65% of the placements 

were made within the region, 9% elsewhere in Wales and 26% outside of 

Wales. 25% of the placements made were for children in sibling groups. 

4.3  At the end of the year there were 101 children subject of a Placement Order 

awaiting an adoptive placement which is less than the previous year.  An 

analysis of these children at the end of quarter 1 this year indicates that 35 of 

these children have additional factors i.e. aged 4 plus, BME, complex needs 

or a part of a sibling group which makes  being able to secure appropriate 

matches more challenging. 

4.4  The region has recorded 103 Placement Orders being made during the year 

which is an increase by one on the previous year. The number of Adoption 

Orders made is 83 which is a 17% increase on the previous year. 

4.5  The measure in relation to the timeliness of the process from becoming 

looked after to being placed for adoption has been highlighted as a concern 

by the NAS End of Year Report as this indicates that on average children 

were placed within 17.1 months. The report highlights that this demonstrates 

‘a fall in performance and a move away from the national benchmark of 13 

months or less’. The NAS report also states that the VVC average of 10.8 

months from Placement Order to placement from adoption is an increase from 

the previous year and again a move away from the benchmark of six months. 

Within the region 31% of children were placed within this timeframe. 

4.6  The level of placement breakdown continues to be low with two placement 

disruptions during the year, one of a six year old girl who was placed for 10 

months and the adopters felt that they could not continue with the placement.  

The second breakdown was a four year old boy who was removed by the 

placing authority due to concerns regarding his care. 

Page 12



7 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

4.7  The number of birth parents referred to the service for counselling fell during 

the year to 212 in line with the reduction in children being referred to the 

service and of this number, 103 parents took up the service. This area 

continues to present a deficit in our current service and it is therefore hoped 

that the additional part time post to focus upon birth parents will bring about 

some improvement.   

 

4.8  Performance in relation to the provision of Life Journey Material for children 

being placed for adoption has seen a downturn during the year and the 

improvements made during the previous reporting period do not appear to 

have been sustained. This information is currently collated by local authorities 

who reported that only 46% of children were recorded as having life journey 

materials at the second adoption review. In April 2018, NAS introduced an 

additional performance measure to record the provision of Life Journey 

Materials at matching. VVC was able to collect data for one quarter from local 

authorities so internal mechanisms have been put in place to record this 

information. NAS has via some additional monies from Welsh Government 

provided a grant to the region to promote and develop Life Journey Work. 

This has enabled VVC to provide additional staff time for a part time member 

within the Family Finding Team to raise awareness of this work amongst the 

childcare teams and with adopters and deploy the NAS toolkit and direct work 

materials across the region. As part of the new monies this year, the region 

has recruited a full time Life Journey Work Co-ordinator who will take up post 

on 1 October 2019. It is anticipated that this post alongside the Practitioner 

posts within the local authorities will serve to drive up practice significantly in 

this area. 

 

4.9  During 2018, Welsh Government undertook a tendering exercise to secure a 

new Adoption Register in Wales. Linkmaker was awarded this contract and 

the new Adoption Register Wales (ARW) became operational in March of this 

year. ARW provides a matching service for children and adopters so all 

children subject of a Placement Order and all approved adopters have to be 

entered onto the Register. 

 

Page 13



8 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

4.10  VVC’S Family Finding Manager  states “Valleys and Cardiff have embraced 

the new Adoption Register Wales (ARW) and are working hard to ensure that 

information is uploaded and updated in a timely manner. A new monitoring 

process has been introduced to assist with this. We have found the interface 

is much more user-friendly and responsive and has been a successful avenue 

for external links. In addition the use of targeted profiling to adoption agencies 

across the UK continues to prove a valuable source of family finding”. 

 

4.11  VVC continues to utilise a range of methods to support family finding. In July 

2018 38 children were profiled in a national Exchange Day event and from 

this identified a link for a single child and a sibling group were identified. The 

Welsh Adoption Activity Day in March 2019 also proved to be a very positive 

event as two matches for sibling groups (including those with complex needs) 

were identified. 

 

4.12  St David’s Adoption Agency and Barnardos, the two voluntary adoption 

agencies operating in Wales have developed a new family finding scheme, 

Adopting Together. Adopting Together is a new national initiative and an 

extension of their usual service in that it targets recruitment for specific 

children and provides support to those children for a year following placement.  

Adopting Together focuses on the recruitment of adopters for children with 

additional needs who have been waiting for adoptive placements over six 

months. This scheme has been embraced by the region and supported by 

VVC Management Board. Ten referrals were initially made to the scheme and 

six children have been placed on a spot purchase basis. The Vale of 

Glamorgan, as host authority is now in the process of entering into more 

formalised contractual arrangements with the scheme on behalf of the partner 

authorities ensuring that referral to the scheme is a key consideration in our 

family finding process.  

5. Recruitment & Assessment of adopters 

5.1  The recruitment of a sufficient supply of adopters to meet the needs of 

children waiting is a significant and ongoing challenge both nationally and 

regionally. This has been highlighted in the NAS Annual Report for 2018-19 

Page 14



9 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

as during this period 212 adoptive placements were approved in Wales and 

yet there were 338 children waiting who had not been placed and almost a 

third of these were in VVC.  

 

5.2.  The region received 259 enquiries from prospective adopters in total for the 

year 2018-19 which represents a 7% increase on the previous year and which 

the NAS End of Year Report acknowledges is “encouraging and continues an 

upward trend”. The graphs contained in Appendix 2 highlight that this trend 

has continued into this financial year with 155 enquiries having been received 

to date. This is encouraging and hopefully indicative of the work which has 

been undertaken by the Marketing and Recruitment Co-ordinator in raising the 

profile of VVC and our needs.  

 

5.3  The Marketing and Recruitment Co-ordinator was successfully recruited in 

August 2018.  Since that time the Marketing Co-ordinator has focused upon a 

number of key areas of activity. 

 

5.4   All enquiries from prospective adopters are responded to within two working 

days and well within the timescale of five days set by NAS. Enquirers are 

followed up within a week if no response has been received and at a month to 

ascertain if they wish to proceed further.  Further follow up is conducted as 

agreed with the enquirer if they remain undecided. All initial visits are 

undertaken by the Marketing Co-ordinator and a Social Worker from the team 

providing a consistent, timely and professional response. Shortly after her 

appointment, the Marketing Co-ordinator undertook an analysis of all the 

enquiries received by VVC from April 2018 and developed a comprehensive 

spreadsheet which now captures a range of data in terms of our adopter 

demographic. VVC is now able to report on a range of indicators by 

geographical area and the reasons why prospective applicants delay or drop 

out of the process is being collated. This information is being utilised to inform 

and target our recruitment activity and is detailed under Appendix 2. 

 

5.5   The work developed within VVC has been showcased at a national level as 

part of a national review of enquiries commissioned by NAS at the latter end 

Page 15



10 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

of 2018 and has been hailed as a model of good practice. The Marketing Co-

ordinator has spent time professionalising VVC’s website, our range of written 

information and developing our marketing materials. Close working links have 

been developed with COWSHED, the nationally commissioned marketing 

agency to develop a Marketing & Recruitment Plan for the region and VVC is 

actively involved in the national Marketing Subgroup.  In conjunction with 

COWSHED, links have been established with Communications Departments 

in each of the partner authorities. 

 

5.6  VVC has been represented at national campaign activities such as the 

National Eisteddfod and Pride. VVC has also engaged in more localised 

marketing activity at the Vale of Glamorgan Show, the Barry 10K run and 

Llantwit Major and Barry Pride. The Marketing Co-ordinator and Recruitment 

& Assessment Manager has presented the work of VVC to the Vineyard 

Church on two occasions and have provided a stand at IKEA and a Wedding 

Fair.  Adverts have been placed in local free publications in each of the local 

authority areas, in cinemas and links have been made with fertility clinics 

within the region. 

 

5.7  VVC’s Marketing Co-ordinator is responsible for updating and managing 

VVC’s website and has recently obtained agreement to develop VVC’s usage 

of Facebook and Instagram as a means of raising our profile. This is likely to 

become live in October of this year 

 

5.8   As part of the Welsh Government grant allocation to improve adoption, three 

of the other regions have decided to use part of the money to establish 

capacity for marketing within their services. North Wales already had a post 

within their service but this had been vacant for some time. VVC’s Job 

Description and Person Specification has been circulated to those regions to 

assist in their recruitment process and provide consistency across Wales. 

 

5.9   In terms of performance, the number of enquiries, response times and 

conversion rates is regularly reported upon to NAS as part of our performance 

monitoring. The Marketing Co-ordinator plays a key role in this and the 

Page 16



11 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

requirements to monitor this activity will increase with the implementation of 

the two stage model. It is too early to assess if the role has had a direct 

impact upon conversion rates although attendance at Information Evenings 

has increased this year with 86 people attending to date compared with 72 

attendees for the whole of previous year. 

 

5.10  The region approved 51 adopter households in the year compared with 46 in 

the previous year. A further five were recommended for approval but not 

ratified until April 2019 and five withdrew following concerns which had arisen 

as part of the assessment process. The approved adopters comprise of 36 

first time adopters, 9 second time, 1 third time approval, 8 foster carers and 2 

inter country. The increase in approvals has continued into this year with 35 

being approved to date. 

 

5.11  The increase in adopter approvals is acknowledged as a move in the right 

direction but falls short of the target of 100 approvals set by VVC 

Management Board and is a long way off the NAS projection of circa 160 

placements which it forecasts will be needed to place children currently 

waiting.  

 

5.12  In relation to VVC’s overall performance in relation to the timeliness of 

assessments the picture has improved. The timescales from initial enquiry to 

approval has decreased from 13.5 months to 11.3 months and the timescale 

from application to approval has improved with an average of 5.8 months 

overall, which is below the national benchmark. 

  

5.13  During the early part of 2019, Welsh Government amended the Adoption 

Agencies (Wales) Regulations 2005 to introduce a two stage assessment 

process for prospective adopters. The implementation of these amendments 

have now been postponed until 1 January 2020. The Regional Adoption 

Manager has been part of a national Policy & Practice Group commissioned 

to develop a Good Practice Guide to accompany the Regulations and training 

has recently been provided for the whole team on the new requirements. The 

two stage process allows for a period of two months initially for training, 

Page 17



12 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

preparation and checks to be undertaken on prospective adopters and a 

further four months for the assessment to be completed. This model has 

operated in England for some time and it is likely to significantly impact on 

performance until the system is embedded in practice.  A range of new 

performance measures have been developed to capture compliance with 

each part of the process. 

 

5.14.  As indicated in the previous report, VVC receives a high numbers of non-

agency adoption referrals, the majority of which are from step parents wishing 

to adopt their step child. These numbers are collated by NAS. Again this is an 

area which poses significant challenges for the service as the need to 

prioritise the recruitment of adopters for children waiting to be adopted has 

resulted in a backlog. Significant efforts have been made to reduce this 

waiting list with the result that only a relatively small number remain 

unallocated. 

  

5.15.  The team remain very committed to developing the service and the fourth day 

of training for prospective adopters is now well established alongside the 

preparation course on a bi-monthly basis. The team provided training for 

second time adopters twice during the year and are also keen to develop 

training for family and friends of adoptive families. The need to provide 

training in a tighter timescale with the two stage model that is to be 

implemented in Wales may require the frequency of training courses to 

increase and so some preliminary discussions have taken place with our 

neighbouring regions to see if this could be facilitated jointly. 

5.16. Training has also been provided for the team on inter country adoption and 

adoption law in an effort to address the knowledge gap within the service 

particularly from those staff new to working in adoption. Representatives of 

the service also attended a national event with NAS and the Inter Country 

Adoption Centre (IAC) based in London and as a result a service level 

agreement for Wales with IAC has been agreed. 

 

Page 18



13 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

 

6. ADOPTION SUPPORT 

6.1 Adoption referrals have remained at a consistent rate for the past couple of 

years.  The proportion of referrals by local authorities have also remained 

consistent. 

 

6.2 The total expenditure on Adoption Support Services for the reporting year was 

£131,991.85.  The average spend per child is £2,205.87 and is consistent 

across the local authorities. Cardiff’s expenditure is considerably higher than 

previous years and includes a figure of approximately £15k on a high package 

of support for two children agreed over a two year period.  Analysis of the 

figures over the past four years shows a correlation between the number of 

referrals in one year and the subsequent funding agreements received in the 

following year.  On average 40% of children referred from Cardiff and RCT go 

on to receive funding requests, meaning 60% are managed with in-house 

support or sign-posting to other services.  This figure is slightly higher for the 

Vale and much lower for Merthyr, although there is a very small data sample 

in Merthyr to draw from. 

 

6.3  The largest costs are for attachment-based therapeutic work, complex 

emotional and behavioural therapeutic work and therapeutic life story work.  

These are our most frequently commissioned service and are in line with the 

types of need our children present with.  We anticipate that although the need 

for therapeutic life story work remains high at present, over the coming years 

with the investment in Life Journey Work across Wales this demand will 

reduce as the quality of the support being provided at an earlier stage 

improves.  The spend on Non-Violent Resistance support we anticipate 

reducing in coming years as we are able to offer this course in-house now, 

reducing the reliance on an external service.  This year there has also been 

no spend on post-adoption parenting courses as we have been able to deliver 

the ‘Nurturing Attachments’ course in-house rather than commission another 

course for families.  

Page 19



14 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

6.4 49 referrals for Access to Birth Records for adopted adults were received 

during the reporting period.  This remains consistent with the rate of referrals 

from previous year. 

6.5 37 referrals for Intermediary Services.  This is a decrease when compared to 

2017-18 statistics.  In 2017-18 the service saw a significant increase in the 

allocations of those waiting to access their birth records which subsequently 

led to an increase in follow-on intermediary requests from adopted adults. 

6.6 Allocation times have significantly improved for both access to birth records 

and intermediary services. Historically waiting times for access to birth 

records cases could be up to a year and intermediary cases up to 2 years. 

With investment in a designated part-time post for this work in addition to the 

adoption support team maintaining full staffing these waiting times have been 

able to reduce and currently there is no-one waiting more than 2 months for 

either service. It remains a significant strength of our service that intermediary 

requests are being supported as not every region in Wales has been able to 

offer this service and where they do, there remains lengthy waiting times. 

 

6.7 As at 31st March 2019, the service has 905 open Letterbox cases.  Of this, 

700 are considered “active”.  The number of “active” cases has continued to 

rise in recent years with increased success in engaging both birth parents and 

adoptive parents.  This is greatly aided by the investment of a part time post 

designated for this work.  However, additional support is provided through our 

Duty system and our Business Support team to ensure that the workload is 

managed.   

 

6.8 The Adoption Support team has developed an improvement plan which 

focuses upon providing opportunities for upskilling staff to reduce reliance 

upon externally commissioned services, training for adopters and improved 

overall provision.  This plan is kept under review and plans are in place to 

facilitate specialist training within the team utilising some of the slippage 

money arising from Welsh Government grant.  In addition, the plan also 

focuses on maintaining our current universal services of; a monthly toddler 

group for adopted families and twice yearly fun-day.  It is anticipated that 

Page 20



15 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

when the specialist posts embed in to the service then further improvements 

will be noted.  

 

6.9 In the reporting period, NAS commissioned Adoption UK to engage in a 

further “Adopter Voice” consultation with adoptive families.  The consultation 

focused upon key priorities for development at a national and regional level, 

namely; life journey work, contact, post adoption support, mental health and 

education.  VVC adopters were invited to participate in a regional forum, 15 

families attended and 17 responded to an online consultation.  The findings of 

the consultation exercise were presented in a regional report and provided to 

VVC Management Board.   It is of significance that the proportion of families 

had adopted with the last three years presented a more positive view of the 

service received and were clear about where they could go to access to 

support.   

 

7. ADOPTION PANEL 

7.1 The Collaborative has continued to operate a joint regional Panel from two 

sittings held on a fortnightly Monday and Wednesday basis.  Work has been 

undertaken to merge the Panel Members and the Panel activity to enable the 

Panel to operate on a more unified basis. 

7.2.  Panel business has remained at a high level during the year with 47 Panel 

meetings being held and one scheduled meetings being cancelled due to 

quoracy.  

7.3  Maintenance of the central list of Panel members continues to pose 

challenges in terms of maintaining a sufficient number of Social Work 

members. This issue has been raised by the VVC and some new Social Work 

representatives have been identified and are in the process of being vetted. 

7.4  Panel training was not held during the year but is planned with the 

introduction of the new 2 stage model.   

  

Page 21



16 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

8. COMPLAINTS & COMPLIMENTS 

8.1  VVC has received the following complaints during the period: 

1.  Complaint from an Assembly Member regarding delay in providing post 

adoption support package for an adoptive family. 

2.  Complaint from adopters of a sibling group regarding a delay in their 

assessment being undertaken for an older sibling. 

3.  Complaint from adopters regarding a delay in being informed of a data breach 

which had come to light during Court proceedings for a subsequent sibling 

and delays in the matching process for that sibling. 

4.  Complaint from an Assembly Member regarding removal of a child placed for 

adoption with one of his constituents.  This was transferred to the placing 

authority for investigation. 

All the complaints investigated by VVC have been resolved at stage 1 of the 

Vale of Glamorgan Complaint Process. 

Two of the complaints highlight issues with the placement of siblings, but the 

concerns were significantly different and as such, it is not possible to draw 

any specific conclusions. 

8.2  Regional staff continue to receive positive feedback on the service provided in 

terms of assessment of adopters, participation in adoption support activities 

and for the general service provided.  This however, tends to be very 

individualised and so the service has begun to develop a more formalised 

feedback process.  Work has been undertaken with the Vale of Glamorgan 

Participation Officer to develop questionnaires to be used during the 

assessment process.  A questionnaire has been developed which will be 

distributed following the adopter preparation training and these returns will be 

collated.  

  

Page 22



17 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 8 - 1 9  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 9  
 

9. CONCLUSION AND 2019-20 PRIORITIES 

9.1  The priorities identified during the previous report in terms of completing the 

actions arising from the Best Value Review and managing the relocation of 

the Service to Barry have been met.   

9.2   The other priorities in respect of VVC’s performance relate to our core 

business and these will remain during the current year.  As the largest 

regional Collaborative, VVC has the largest number of children awaiting 

adoptive placements and the biggest challenge in adopter recruitment.  We 

envisage that these priorities in particular will be our main focus.  

9.3  In terms of regional performance, the work undertaken by the regional 

Marketing Co-ordinator has had a positive benefit and we now have a rich set 

of data in respect of adopter enquiries and demographics in which to inform 

our recruitment strategy.   

9.4  Positive performance has been noted in terms of increasing the number of 

placements made, the number of adopters approved and improved timeliness 

of the assessment process.  VVC has seen a dip in the performance in the 

provision of Life Journey Work and the take up of services by birth parents, 

but it is hoped that the new posts identified as a result of the Welsh 

Government grant will go some way to improve this across the region.    

9.5 The priorities for the service going forward are to ensure that the new service 

provisions are embedded into regional practice to improve consistency and 

service delivery.  The other key priority is ensuring that the two stage model 

for the assessment of adopters is implemented fully and the impact upon 

regional performance is monitored closely. 

 

Angela Harris 

Regional Adoption Manager  

September 2019 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



VVC Annual Report 2018-19  P a g e  | 1 

Appendix 1 – Family Finding 
 
 
Children Referred. 
During the period April 2018 and March 2019, 218 children were referred to the 
Service. 
 

 
 
 
Number of “Should be placed for Adoption” decisions 
During the reporting period, 111 SBA decisions were made in relation to children 
referred to the Service. 
 

 
 
 
 

Apr May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 10 10 19 8 8 7 12 9 6 4 3 6

Merthyr 0 8 3 3 0 7 5 3 0 1 7 2

RCT 6 1 1 6 11 6 2 4 0 4 4 5

Vale 1 5 4 3 3 0 1 0 1 0 5 4

Total 17 24 27 20 22 20 20 16 7 9 19 17

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

Children Referred to the Service

Apr May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 1 3 2 6 12 9 6 2 2 4 5 3

Merthyr 1 0 3 1 0 6 2 0 2 1 0 0

RCT 9 0 2 2 2 3 3 0 1 0 1 2

Vale 4 1 1 0 4 1 2 0 0 0 2 0

Total 15 4 8 9 18 19 13 2 5 5 8 5

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

N
o

 o
f 

SB
A

 D
ec

is
io

n
s

Should Be Placed for Adoption

Page 25



VVC Annual Report 2018-19  P a g e  | 2 

Placement Orders granted 
During the reporting period, 101 Placement Orders were granted. 
 
 

 
 
Children Matched 
94 children were matched with prospective adopters during the reporting period. 
 
 

 
 

Apr May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 3 0 5 4 16 2 8 2 0 7 3

Merthyr 1 0 0 1 0 0 6 1 1 0 3 0

RCT 1 8 0 2 2 0 2 1 4 1 0 1

Vale 0 1 4 1 2 2 1 3 0 0 0 0

Total 4 12 4 9 8 18 11 13 7 1 10 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

N
o

 o
f 

O
rd

er
s

Placement Orders Granted

Apr May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 3 0 2 5 4 3 2 7 2 1 9 5

Merthyr 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

RCT 1 5 3 2 3 3 3 8 2 0 4 0

Vale 1 0 2 0 1 1 1 1 0 1 2 2

Total 6 6 7 7 8 7 6 16 4 2 15 10

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

Children Matched

Page 26



VVC Annual Report 2018-19  P a g e  | 3 

 
Children Placed 
100 children were placed with adopters during the reporting period. 
 
 

 
 
 
Adoption Orders Granted 
83 Adoption Orders were granted during the reporting period. 
 

 
 

Apr May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 4 0 5 3 5 5 2 0 3 3 13

Merthyr 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2

RCT 2 2 7 3 4 0 5 4 4 4 5 0

Vale 3 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 1

Total 7 8 7 10 8 7 10 7 4 7 9 16

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

 

Children Placed

Apr May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 5 1 6 1 4 4 1 1 2 1 3 3

Merthyr 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

RCT 3 3 9 5 2 5 3 3 3 3 3

Vale 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 1

Total 8 4 17 6 7 9 4 2 5 7 6 8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
O

rd
er

s

Adoption Orders Granted

Page 27



VVC Annual Report 2018-19  P a g e  | 4 

 
Children who have waited longer than 6 months from SBA to Match 
76 Children waited longer than six months from the date of the “Should be placed 
for Adoption” decision and the children being matched with prospective adopters in 
the reporting period. 
 

 
 
 
Children placed in the Region 
64 children were placed with adopters living in the region.  15 children were placed 
with VAA adopters within the region. 
 

 

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale

Series1 35 4 25 12

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

h
ild

re
n

Children who have waited longer than 6 months from SBA to 
Match

0

5

10

15

20

25

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale VAA

Children placed within the Region (including VAA)

Page 28



VVC Annual Report 2018-19  P a g e  | 5 

Children placed outside of the Region 
35 children were placed outside of the region, 9 of which were placed with adopters 
living in Wales. 
 

 
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Wales England

Children Placed outside the Region

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Children’s Services Strategy 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides Scrutiny Committee with information about development and 

progress with Children’s Services Strategy.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That Scrutiny Committee receive this report and raise questions and challenge that 

will lead to improvement.  
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In October 2019, Children’s Services provided Scrutiny Committee with an overview 

and update of the service strategy for improving the well-being of children and young 
people.  The strategy sets out our approach to delivering the Council’s duties to 
vulnerable young people.  The same strategy also responds to children’s services’ 
role in contributing to outcomes under the Cwm Taf Statement of Strategic Intent for 
Children, Young People and Families, and the Public Services Board Cwm Taf Well-
Being Objectives.   

 
Legislative Context 
 
3.2 1The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work 

to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  We must do this in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle, which means that we act in a manner 

                                            
1 Read the essential guide to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Date Written February 2020 

Report Author Annabel Lloyd 

Service Area Children’s Services  

Committee Date 10th March 2020 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf


2 
 

that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
There are 5 things that we need to do in order to show that we have applied the 
sustainable development principle.  The five things are: 

 Long Term 

 Preventative 

 Involvement 

 Collaboration 

 Integrated 
 
3.3 2The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 

improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need 
support and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on 
what matters to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources 
to do those things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person 
and the professional(s).  The Act enhances the duty to collaborate in pursuit of early 
identification in order to prevent escalation of need.  

 
3.4 In order to improve wellbeing, local authorities, health boards and NHS trusts must 

work closely to ensure better integration of health and social care.  Local authorities 
and health boards must work together to assess care and support needs (and carer 
support needs) of the population in their area.  As a result, they will identify what 
services are needed. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Included below is a summary and update against each area of business under     

children’s services strategy.  The Strategy on a Page itself is included at Appendix 1. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1      The service strategy is directly related to the corporate vision statement included in         
           Focus on the Future that is included on our Strategy on a Page: 
 

Children and young people are safe and healthy; 
have the right help at the right time; 

are supported to live with their family or close to home; 
and have stable and successful lives. 

 
5.2    Further progress has been made in relation to Children’s Services’ strategy as it has 

developed considerably since the last update to Scrutiny Committee in March 2019.  
Each area of development is aimed at preventing escalation of need, improving the 
wellbeing of vulnerable young people with care and support needs, and delivering 
budget efficiencies. Children’s services management team, relevant partners, 
service users and staff have been engaged in the development of the strategy and 
its related action plans. 

 

                                            
2 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 

Page 32

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf


3 
 

 
5.3 Children’s Services Strategy itself included the following components: 
 

 Earlier intervention to prevent escalation of need - making sure those 
Children and their families receive the right help at the right time to prevent 
unnecessary escalation of need. 

 

 Enhancing services at the edge of care - (Previously known as the Children 
Looked after Prevention Strategy) making sure intervention is evidenced based to 
prevent further escalation of need and risk; that where we need to look after 
young people we do so at the right time, ensuring every safe opportunity for care 
within the family network is fully explored. 

 

 Success, Stability and Transition - making sure that looked after young people 
and care leavers achieve stable and successful lives as a basis from where to 
transition into adulthood. 

 

 Strategy for Improving Performance - making sure that we continually improve 
the services we deliver and our outcomes. 

 

 Workforce Strategy - ensuring   that we can successfully recruit qualified social 
workers; and that the service is staffed by colleagues who are well supported with 
the right values, qualifications and skills. 

 

 Strategy for Sustainable Children’s Services - a 3 year plan setting out the 
services’ approach to delivering short and long term efficiencies. 

 
5.4 Children’s Services Staff have highlighted the following values and principles as 

important to their ways of working and identity as a staff group: 
 

 We listen to young people, their families and colleagues 

 We step up and step down service but avoid stepping away too soon 

 We are positive and have a ‘can do’ attitude 

 We embrace change 

 Continuous improvement lies at the heart of our work – we welcome challenge 

 We want to innovate and be leaders in practice 

 We are passionate about making a difference for future generations of Merthyr 
Tydfil families. 

 
Included below is a summary of progress against the Children’s Services’ developing 
strategy: 

Page 33



4 
 

Key Project and business areas   Progress 

Earlier intervention to prevent 
escalation of need - Right Help at 
Right Time 
 

 Early Help Hub  

 Information Advice and 
Assessment  

 Young Carers 

 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

 Step up Step down and MIA Co-
ordination 

 Young Carers 
 

 

 

The Early Help Hub is live and the Council has committed to continuously developing the work of 
the Early Help Hub. Elected member workshop will take place on 18th March 2020 on this and 
other matters. 
 
The EHH multi-disciplinary Steering group will oversee and track progress with: 

 Enhancing partner engagement in improving the digital information that is available. 

 Implementation of regional Carers strategy in relation to young carers. 

 Develop the pathway to support services for families with Children with Disabilities. 
 
Emerging Information 
Evaluation of feedback from families has been better than expected and the number of 
assessments leading to take up of preventative services has been higher than expected. 
However, there is now a capacity challenge in preventative services.  A summary of emerging 
information is included here: 
 

 Public have reported a satisfaction rate of 9 when providing feedback on the rate that their 
referral was dealt with. 

 Of those who took part in telephone interviews all 21 persons reported that the hub staff ‘did 
what they said they would do’. 

 Of those who took part in telephone interviews all 21 persons reported that they felt listened 
to.  Participants were asked if they wished to make further comments to help the service 
develop, examples of the comments provided were: ‘Yeah she listened to me. She asked 
loads of questions about my family like she really wanted to help me.’ 

 ‘I didn’t want any help, but I am glad I know I can ring them if I need to.’ 

 When the public asked what the hub could have done differently to improve their experience 
the following feedback was provided:  ‘No one has made contact with me from (preventative 
agency referred to) I am worried things might get worse.’ 

 ‘I wish I had known about the hub sooner.’ 
 
Quarter 3 was the first full quarter of Early Help Hub operation.  

P
age 34



5 
 

Measure: Q3 19/20 
No. of referrals 
 

253 

No. of Proportionate Assessments 
undertaken 
 

184 

% step up from TAF to children services 
 

5% (Previous Q2 7%) 

No. of re-referrals   Unable to report due to infancy measure is over 
a six month period. 

% of EHH referrals that stepped up to 
children’s services 
 

>1% 

% of EHH referrals signposted to an 
agency / provided with information (family 
wish to make their own referral) 
 

4% 

% family who consented to a referral 
being made to a preventative service.  
 

27% 

% of EHH referrals referred to TAF 
 

46% (105 children across 53 families) 

 

Next Steps  

 Settle in the Early Help Hub and track improvement plan, making improvements as data and 
feedback from family experiences becomes more evident. 

 Look for every opportunity to increase the capacity and reach of preventative services. 

 Evaluate and adjust based upon evidence of need and effectiveness. 

 ICF funded Health post to commence their presence in the Early Help Hub. 

 Early Action Together engagement to continue to explore a Police presence within the Early 
Help Hub to support information sharing and families accessing the right help at the right time. 

P
age 35



6 
 

Enhancing Services at the Edge 
of Care - Right Decision at Right 
Time 
 
(Previously Children Looked After 
Prevention Strategy) 
  

 Supporting Change Team 

 Multi-agency Risk Assessment 
Framework (MARAF) 

 

 
 

Appointments have been made to the Supporting Change (SC) Team which is now taking cases 
identified at the SC Panel.  The tender for family group conference did not lead to identifying a 
provider, and further work is required.  The Supporting Change Team will deliver the authority’s 
duty under Part 9 of the Social Services and Well-Being Act to provide an Integrated Family 
Support Service.  
 
The work of the team will support the service in making the right decision at the right time and 
notably look for opportunities to make lasting changes that prevent entry into the looked after 
system.  Where a child needs to become looked after, this team will support the service in making 
that decision earlier in childhood when there are better outcomes for children looked after.  
Building on the learning from 18-19, we are keen to improve how we use the Public Law Outline.  
 
Emerging Information  

 Demand for the service is in excess of capacity and there is a brief delay in accepting cases 
whilst the team reaches full staffing capacity (1 FTE social worker and 0.5 FTE ed. 
Psychologist outstanding).  

 Looked after numbers remain high (205 at 31.12.19) with some positive emerging signs: 
a) The rate at which children become looked after has reduced and is now closer to the 

2017/18 rate.  (Number who became looked after Qs1-3 2018-19 = 73; Number for same 
period 2019-20 = 41). 

b) The average age of becoming looked after has reduced from 6.5 years in 2018/19 to 4.1 
years in 2019-20. 

 
Next Steps 

 Settle in Supporting Change and track improvement plan and outcomes. 
 

P
age 36



7 
 

Strategy for Stability, Success and 
Transition   
 

 National Fostering Framework: Foster 
Carer recruitment and retention; 
Fostering Well-being  

 Regional Adoption Collaboration 

 Corporate Parenting 

 Education for Looked after young people 

 Pathway to Work 

 Care Leavers’ Strategy 

 Therapy (Multi-agency Permanence 
Support Service MAPSS) 

 Placement Commissioning Strategy 

The following has been achieved during this period: 
 

 Council Tax Reduction for all MTCBC Foster Carers. 

 Corporate Parenting Board Annual Report has been debated at Scrutiny Committee 
and Council. 

 Concluded Care Leaver’s Strategy - Make Your Own Decision. 

 Updated the Placement Commissioning Strategy Action Plan - including engagement 
events with providers linked to the services’ Market Position Statement. 

 Achieved Council Support to the Pathway to Work for care experienced young 
people. 

 Regional agreement to the ICF funded Multi-Agency Placement Support Services 
(therapy for looked after young people is on track for February 2020). 

 
Corporate Parenting Board has received reports in relation to foster carer recruitment 
and retention for its meeting in March 2020.   
 
We are aware that a high number of our looked after young people require support with 
education and we are preparing for the significant impact of the ALN reforms.  
 
We continue to be very proud indeed of our young people’s achievements. 
 
The annual report for the Regional Adoption Collaboration will be brought to this 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Next Steps   

 Continue to involve young people in our work via our contract with Voices From Care 

 Continue the work of the regional fostering front door 

 Implement the action plan for the Care Leavers’ Strategy 

 Finalise revised transition arrangements 

 Implement the Placement Commissioning Strategy action plan 

 Implement the action plan for the Pathway to work. 
 

P
age 37



8 
 

Strategy for Improving Performance 
 

 Participation and the Young Person's 
Voice 

 Partnership Working 

 Policies and Procedures 

 Performance Review 

 Quality Assurance Framework 

 Outcome Focused Work 

 Independent Reviewing Service 

 Self- Evaluation and annual council 
report  

Tracking of performance for 19-20 remains positive with strengths in relationship to 
timeliness of response to new safeguarding concerns and assessment.  We have also 
noted an increase in the number of care leavers in work 24 months after leaving care. 
 
Challenges are linked to: 

 GP and Dentist for looked after young people - work is underway; is thought to be, in 
part, a recording issue. 

 Care Leavers being in work at 12 months following leaving care (Corporate 
Parenting Board will request more information about solutions). 

 Care Leavers experiencing homelessness. 
 
At year end we will provide Scrutiny Committee with an annual break down of data and 
analysis.  The service has completed Q3 of the self-evaluation which will be brought 
separately to Scrutiny Committee.  We will update the Quality Assurance Framework for 
20/21 to increase the involvement of practitioners in peer review and, ensuring that 
families’ voices are afforded substantial importance in driving changes.  
 
An area of work that has taken off during Q3 has been Passion4Practice which will see 
practitioners take a consistent step change in their approach to strength based outcome 
focused practice.  More information will be shared about this at the members’ workshop. 
 
Next steps 

 Ensure that young people’s voices inform service improvements   

 Continue the work of the Quality Assurance Framework and corporate self-
evaluation  

 Continue to monitor and improve performance  

 Implement the national protection procedures 

 Implement the Passion4Practice action plan. 
 

 
 

P
age 38



9 
 

Workforce Strategy 

 Recruitment 

 Retention 

The service has recently been able to recruit successfully and during 19-20 we are able 
to focus more on staff retention and skills.  Council recently supported the proposal that 
we employ 2 FTE social workers to address capacity issues in looked after cases, 
especially linked to cases of Placement with Parents. 
 
Next steps: 

 Update the service workforce strategy. 
 

Strategy for Sustainable Children’s 
Services  

 Long Term efficiencies 

 Short Term efficiencies 

Demand remains high and capacity is an issue, there are real pressures in the system. 
This is a precarious time for the service as we intend to meet need in statutory provision 
whilst increasing the reach and effectiveness of prevention work.  The Council needs to 
think in a long term way in its investment in preventative services whilst being aware 
that there is no indication that complexity and level of demand for statutory services will 
change in the short term.   
 
There is a strong relationship between effective improvement of outcomes for people 
with care and support needs and effective use of resources.  During 18-19 we finalised 
this piece of work that documents how our service strategy and the re-configuration was 
designed to deliver sustainability in the context of reducing resources; some examples 
of those long term efficiencies are: 

 Early Help Hub - reduce avoidable escalations to statutory children’s services. 

 Supporting Change - reduce numbers of children looked after and age at which child 
becomes looked after. 

 Placement Commissioning Strategy Regional Front Door Fostering - increase supply 
of LA foster carers and local lower cost provision. 

 Therapy - meet need in looked after system and reduce avoidable escalations.  

 Workforce - reduce reliance on agency staff. 
 
The service has also delivered the following in-year efficiencies: 
 

 Closer to Home project - looking for opportunities to step down young people in high 
cost provisions to lower cost ones in ways that is in line with their well-being.  

P
age 39



10 
 

 Supporting Change - efficiency linked to providing local rather than regional services. 

 Continuing Health Care - examples of shared costs with LHB for some young people 
with CHC needs. 

 Vacancy management.  

 Escalation avoidance at Placement Panel. 

 Family First - placement with safe relatives as opposed to foster care wherever 
possible. 

 
As at Quarter 3 end the children’s service budget was showing £622k overspend.  
However the Social Services Directorate Year end projection as at Quarter 3 is £289k 
overspend. 
 
Next Steps: 

 Update the services’ action plan under the strategy for sustainability for 20/21 to 
incorporate the actions identified in the short term capacity review. 

 

P
age 40



11 
 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 Merthyr Tydfil Children's Services plans to be a high performing service, working in 

co-production with partners and families, providing services within budget that are 
preventative, reduce risk, and increase resilience. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Each project has a prioritised action plan which is updated quarterly with an annual 

review at year end.  Action plans are linked to our performance management 
framework and the Council’s policy Focus on Performance. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1  This area of business is located in the following wellbeing objective: 
 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)  
 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Children’s Services 
Strategy Scrutiny 
Committee Report  

November 2019 Civic and Council website  

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No  

 

Page 41



12 
 

 

Appendix 1 

P
age 42



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Adult Services Accommodation Strategy for Older 
People and Adults with a Learning Disability 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report sets out the Adult Services Accommodation Strategy for Older People 

and Adults with a Learning Disability and how it relates to MTCBC’s strategic 
Wellbeing Priorities. 

 
1.2 The strategy sets out the strategic direction for accommodation services for Adult 

Social Care in the coming 10 years and forms a continuance of the “Home for Life 
Strategy” which ends in 2020. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the 

report.  
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This report has been presented to scrutiny to discuss the content of the “Adult 

Services Accommodation Strategy 2020-2030” and obtain their views as to whether 
the strategy sets out a clear direction for the development of Adult Accommodation 
Services. 

 
 
 
 

Date Written January 2020 

Report Author Angela Edevane 

Service Area Adult Social Care 

Committee Date 10th March 2020 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 The previous strategy that outlined the strategic direction and plan for Adult Services 

Accommodation was the “Home for Life Strategy” which covered the period 2006 -
2020 (attached at Appendix 1). 

 
4.2 This strategy included the future direction of accommodation services and the 

development of community based services to support people to remain in their own 
homes. 

 
4.3 This strategy has now reached the end of the period that it was intended to cover 

and requires updating in line with the changing needs of the people of Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 A number of developments have taken place in line with the previous “Home for Life 

Strategy” which include: 
 

 The development of an extra care facility (Ty Cwm). 

 The reconfiguration of the Local Authority’s directly delivered residential care 
services that incorporated the reduction of the number of care homes from 4 to 2.  

 The build of 2 new residential care homes for older people namely Ty Bargoed 
Newydd and Ty Gurnos Newydd. 

 The enhancement of targeted preventative community support services that 
promote independence which has been achieved through the development and 
implementation of Initial Support Services positioned at the first point of entry to 
Adult Social Care. 

 The development and implementation of a regional joint equipment store which is 
outlined in a section 33 legal agreement. 

 The enhancement of telecare services, which as technology has progressed, play 
a greater role in managing risk in the community and care home setting. 

 
5.2 The Home for Life Strategy forecast the number of places required based on the 

demographic changes of older people. 
 
“At a local level the table below shows the numbers of people receiving community 
and residential social services as at 30/09/04 and applies this same rate of take up 
to the projected population increase in Merthyr Tydfil of 29% for the year 2020.” 

 
 Table 1 

Service take up as at 
30/09/04 

Current service take up 
rates applied to the 

projected population of 

2020 

Actual as of  

31/03/19 

Residential 
Care 

Nursing 
Care 

Residential 
Care 

Nursing Care Residential 
Care 

Nursing 
Care 

177 69 228 89 157 96 

 

Page 44



5.3 Whilst the information is not available for the full year 2020 the data is available for 
31st March 2019 which shows 157 Residential Placements and 96 nursing 
placements.  Which shows a variance of 71 less residential placements and 7 more 
nursing placements when comparing forecasted demand against actual. 

 
5.4 During recent years there has been an increased focus on development of        

regional strategies for Adult Social Care and Commissioning Statements of Intent 
have been produced for Older People and People with a Learning Disability.  These 
have been developed in line with the Regional Population Assessment and Area 
Development plan.  These documents provide the overarching joint health & social 
care strategic direction. 

 
5.5 The “Adult Services Accommodation Strategy 2020-2030” brings together the 

strategic accommodation elements of these documents identified in 5.4 that are  
aligned in a Merthyr Tydfil CBC context with corresponding timescales for delivery. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The purpose of the strategy is to provide a clear direction for the development of 

accommodation services for Adults over the next 10 years. 
 
6.2 The strategy is based on the current position and legislative framework which can be 

subject to change and should this occur then the strategy will be refined to reflect 
these changes. 

 
6.3 Whilst there are key areas identified such as the development of a further extra care 

facility, work will continue on a regional basis to identify how more specialist services 
will be developed across the region in order to maximise both the use of available 
resources and enhance the range of services closer to the individual’s community. 

 
6.4 The areas identified in the strategy are: 
 

 Retain an element of in-house provision to provide specialist services to higher 
needs ensuring full utilisation of all bed spaces. 

 Commission a mixture of accommodation to meet the needs of EMI Nursing, 
General Nursing, EMI Residential and Elderly Frail residential in a way that best 
meets the needs of our community. 

 Extend and improve our accommodation options for older people and people with 
a learning disability including plans to develop an additional extra care facility. 

 Explore alternative options of accommodation for our citizens with a learning 
disability ensuring we are meeting the following priorities co-produced with 
people with learning disabilities: 
o More choices of where I live and who I live with. 
o Quiet spaces in supported living houses. 
o I want to make my own choices good or bad. 
o More house staff for increased opportunities. 
o Having my own key to my own home. 
o It’s my home not an office. 

 
 

Page 45



7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Services continue to be developed and refined over time and some of the areas 

identified in the strategy have already commenced such as the proposed move of 
the Learning Disability Services from Llysfaen to Ty Gurnos whilst others will take a 
number of years before they are implemented such as the extra care facility. 

 
7.2  We are working with Housing Colleagues to develop the Extra Care facility on the 

land adjacent to the Keir Hardie Health Park site. 
 
7.3  There are 2 areas that we will be working towards on a regional basis which are the 

accommodation needs of people with a Learning Disability and the refresh of the 
care home market position statement. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The accommodation strategy for Adult Social care links with the following strategic 

objectives: 
 

 Healthier Wales. 

 Focus on the Future Local Authority wellbeing objective of Living Well 

 The PSB objective of Lifestyles, Health & Vulnerability. 

 The political priorities of “We will look after all our citizens by providing quality 
education and social care enabling everyone to lead their lives to their full 
potential” and “We will encourage lifestyles and promote wellbeing.” 

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

A Home For Life Strategy  
For The Older People Of 
Merthyr Tydfil  (Services And 
Quality Of Life) 2006 – 2020 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 46



Page 1 of 26 
 

 

 

 

 

ADULT SERVICES 

ACCOMMODATION 

STRATEGY FOR 

OLDER PEOPLE AND 

ADULTS WITH A 

LEARNING 

DISABILITY 

2020-2030  

Page 47



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  
 

 
 

Page 2 of 26 
 

Review 
 

Version Number: v.4.0 

Service Area: Adult Services – People and Performance 

Publication Date: April 2020 

Revisions:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 3 of 26 
 

Index   

 

Review ................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Index ....................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Vision ...................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

Strategic Intent ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

Strategic and Legislative Context .................................................................................................... 11 

Population Profile ............................................................................................................................... 13 

What have we done? ......................................................................................................................... 21 

Where we need to be ......................................................................................................................... 23 

How do we get there and what are the benefits? .......................................................................... 24 

Key Milestones ................................................................................................................................... 25 

Appendix 1 .......................................................................................................................................... 26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 4 of 26 
 

Vision 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s Shared vision is “To strengthen Merthyr 

Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the Valleys and be a place to 

be proud of where; 

 People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions 

 People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life 

 People visit, enjoy and return 

 

‘Our Shared Vision’ can be found in Appendix 1. 

 

Vision for Living Well as identified in the Strategy on a Page (SOAP)  

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 

feel safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. The outcomes are; 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and Adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 

have transitioned well into adulthood. 

  

Page 50



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 5 of 26 
 

Introduction 

Social care services for people in Merthyr Tydfil have continued to reform to meet   the 

needs of our community, and to achieve the County Borough’s vision and strategic 

aims of promoting independence and supporting people to remain in their own homes 

for as long as possible. The needs of the population continue to change and social 

care services need to continue to adapt in order to deliver the vision for Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough, the Government’s modernising agenda and the wishes of our 

customers within the context of finite resources. Our focus for the next ten years is to 

continue to provide services that maximise independence and self-determination.  

 

In line with the strategic direction of maintaining people in their own homes there has 

been a continued focus on enhancing the community services offer to prevent people 

moving into place based care facilities such as care homes which has seen a 

significant change in the complexity of the support provided to people in the 

community. This has also seen an increase in the complexity of support and profile of 

the people who require care and support in place based care settings. 

 

Within the overall older population there are vulnerable groups including the very old, 

those who live alone, those who are dependent on a carer, those with mental frailty 

including dementia and those who live in unfit and/or unsuitable accommodation.  It is 

not possible to accurately predict numbers based on these groups, as some people 

will fall into two or more categories, which could lead to double counting. However, 

there is sufficient information available to give an indication of the proportion of 

particularly vulnerable older people.    

 

High on the priority list for all adults is the right to exercise choice over their living and 

care arrangements and maintain their independence. This is entirely consistent with 

the directorate’s approach to service responses based on maximising independence 

and self-determination. National research suggests people want to be able to live in 

their own home and access a range of appropriate and integrated services as required 

to support them to achieve this. If alternative accommodation is necessary, then a 

Page 51



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 6 of 26 
 

range of housing options should be available, but importantly they should be able to 

offer a home for life. Residential/nursing care homes are the least favoured option 

because of a perceived loss of independence and concerns about the quality and 

standards of the care provided.   

 

Following the introduction of the ‘Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act the 

Council has adopted 5 ways of working which are designed to ensure we are in a 

position to provide sustainable services now and in the future. These principles ensure 

we take a ‘Long Term’ view to plan for the future, a focus on ‘Prevention’, ensuring 

our services are ‘Integrated’ with local communities and other partner agencies, that 

we ‘Collaborate’ with and ‘Involve’ the people who use our services and our partners 

in their development. 

 

The Council intends to make effective use of the Well-being of Future Generations Act 

to safeguard the well-being of Merthyr Tydfil now and over the long term. The Council 

has identified four key wellbeing objectives – details of which are set out in our 

‘Statement of Wellbeing’. In addition to this, we have also documented what we will do 

and how we will work to deliver our objectives (‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our 

Community’).   

 

The use of “well-being standards” means that we take a wider account of the impact 

that our services are having on people’s lives, their place in their communities, family 

relationships, access to work and education and protecting people from harm.  

Because of doing things differently we are recording different information and 

considering the impact of services on people, asking ourselves “what difference have 

we made to people’s lives?” 

 

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 was implemented in April 2016 

and the changing practice, policy and service delivery required is progressing well and 

is being embraced locally and regionally. The Social Services and Wellbeing Act and 

the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act are now embedded into practice. 

Page 52



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 7 of 26 
 

As part of the ‘Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act; we need to do different 

things, work smarter, making better use of our assets which has never been so 

important.   

 

There has been higher demand in Adults Services over recent years, with an increase 

in packages of care to maintain adults within their own home which has meant 

pressures on the budget within Social Services. There has been the availability of 

grants from Welsh Government in respect of winter pressures and prevention work, 

which has assisted the Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 53



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 8 of 26 
 

Strategic Intent 

Merthyr Council Adult Services has been working within the strategic direction of “The 

Home for Life Strategy for the older people of Merthyr Tydfil 2006 – 2020” and this is 

due to be reviewed in April 2020. Since the development of this strategy, there have 

been significant changes in Social Services.  

 Introduction of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 

 Introduction of the ‘Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 Data collection onto WCCIS 

 

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 and the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 are now embedded into practice. 

 

This Strategy (2020 - 2030) focuses on the specialised accommodation provided and 

commissioned by Adult Social Care Services within the County Borough. It explores 

the range of provision that maintains people within the community provided by the 

Local Authority identifying the current and potential people that will require support 

both now and in the future. This strategy defines an overall direction of travel for the 

County Borough with regard to the provision of accommodation and support services 

for people. 

 

The premise upon which this strategy has been developed includes; 

 Need to determine a strategic view of the adult services accommodation 

provided and commissioned by the Local Authority. 

 Resource pressures faced upon Local Authorities means that there is more 

pressure to deliver services more effectively. 

 Statistics show that there is more pressure placed on Local Authorities, with 

people living longer and requiring care services. 

 Need to develop an approach which offers more options for people to remain 

in their own home, maximising independence. 

 Anticipated changes in service delivery. 

Page 54



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 9 of 26 
 

Our priorities for 2019/2020 included within the Annual Report on Social Services 

2018/2019 include; 

 Engage with people who use our day services that support people with a 

dementia as part of our implementation of the Dementia Care Matters model 

of support. 

 In consultation with system users and managers, continue to improve the 

accessibility, range and quality of information available via the Wales 

Community Care Information System (WCCIS). 

 Continue to work with Dementia Care Matters to implement the model within 

our day services that support people with dementia. 

 Continue to work with Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB to take forward the 

development of the Valley LIFE work to enhance community services for 

people with a dementia. 

 Work with our regional partners to develop new models of community support 

for Adults as part of the transformational program. 

 Implement any actions identified as part of the inspection of Adult Community 

Mental Health Service in partnership with our health colleagues. 

 Continue to work with our housing colleagues to progress the identification and 

the development of a range of accommodation services to meet the needs of 

Older People and People with a Learning Disability. 

 

The regional “Statement of Commissioning Intent for Older People” outlined “Where 

people are no longer able to live in their own homes our priority will be to ensure there 

is a comprehensive range of housing, and in particular, housing with support options 

available for them, to retain independence and control over their living arrangements 

for as long as possible (e/.g. adapted housing, sheltered housing and extra care 

housing). 

 

The Statement of Intent for Learning Disability outlines Home as one of the key priority 

areas identifying the priority of meeting the need of a range of housing needs now & 

in the future. 

 

Page 55



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 10 of 26 
 

This strategy will support  us to deliver and commission excellent quality services that 

are person centred and best able to meet individual’s personal outcomes. This will 

include a range of the following; 

 Specialist in-house care home provision 

 Enhanced accommodation options including extra care 

 Regionally commissioned specialist services 

 Regionally commissioned care home services more suited to meet demand  

 

The aim is to provide a range of accommodation services to meet the diverse needs 

of the people who require support.  

 

  

Page 56



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 11 of 26 
 

Strategic and Legislative Context 

 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

Part 9 of the SSWB Act sets out local authority responsibilities in relation to 

care homes. As a region we are expected to have one joint contract and to 

produce one market position statement. Although these are in place for the 

Cwm Taf region with the introduction of Bridgend both will need to be reviewed.  

 

 Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

We will strive to implement the five ways of working throughout our approach 

to accommodation services. This will include: 

 

Long Term – developing services over the longer term to better meet 

our needs both locally and regionally  

Prevention – develop a range of accommodation services to enable 

individuals to remain in their own homes for longer 

Integration – work across regions, public bodies and third sector 

organisations to provide integrated accommodation services  

Involvement – continue to involve service users in a co-productive 

approach to accommodation including previous consultation and 

learning regionally as part of the work around the Learning Disability 

statement of intent and locally incorporating views from consultation with 

families, residents, service users, carers, advocates and other 

stakeholders.  

Collaboration – Strengthen links with internal departments to deliver a 

range of accommodation options in particular through joint work on the 

strategic housing partnership.  

 

 Local Housing Strategy 

 Regional statement of strategic intent for both Learning disability and 

Older People  

Page 57



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 12 of 26 
 

The National Commissioning Board produced a guidance document in 2019 outlining 

good practice when commissioning accommodation for people with a learning 

disability “Guidance: Commissioning accommodation and support for a good life for 

people with a learning disability” The guidance incorporated in this document will be 

included in the development of any services for people with a learning disability as part 

of this strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 13 of 26 
 

Population Profile 

Population  

As at mid-2018, Merthyr Tydfil had a population of 60,183. This information has been 

taken from StatsWales. A breakdown is shown below; 

Age Population (as at 

2018) 

0 - 15 years 11,553 

16 – 64 years 37,406 

65+ years 11,224 

TOTAL 60,183 

 

Age 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

0 - 15 years 11,018 11,092 11,243 11,383 11,553 

16 – 64 years 37,463 37,414 37,534 37,462 37,406 

65+ years 10,575 10,741 10,714 11,108 11,224 

TOTAL 59,056 59,247 59,714 59,953 60,183 

 

Care home demand profile 2014 - 2019 

The following table indicates the number of people supported in care homes by the 

Local Authority at a given point in each year. 

Long Term Residential as at 31/03 

Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

Dementia  26 41 67 69 74 

Old Age 31 43 45 39 52 

Other 23 19 7 5 7 

Learning Disability 16 17 18 17 13 

Mental Illness 6 5 8 8 9 

Physical Disability 1 2 2 2 2 

Total 103 127 147 140 157 

  
     

Page 59



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 14 of 26 
 

Long Term Nursing as at 31/03 

Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

Dementia 11 10 10 14 15 

Old Age 42 38 51 54 75 

Other 10 4 1 2 1 

Learning Disability  1 1 1 1 1 

Mental Illness 0 1 0 0 1 

Physical Disability 2 2 2 3 3 

Total 66 56 65 74 96 

 

Long Term Residential as at 31/03 as a percentage of population over 65 
  

Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

Dementia  0.25 0.38 0.63 0.62 0.66 

Old Age 0.29 0.40 0.42 0.35 0.46 

Long Term Nursing as at 31/03 as a percentage of population over 65 
  

 Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

Dementia 0.10 0.09 0.09 0.13 0.13 

Old Age 0.40 0.35 0.48 0.49 0.67 

 

The following table indicates the number of people that have been assessed and 

supported to move into care homes during each financial year. 

Residential Placements 

Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

Dementia 27 44 78 98 111 

Old Age 43 54 56 63 67 

Other 42 33 25 7 7 

Learning Disability  16 17 19 19 17 

Mental Illness  6 6 8 9 11 

Physical Disability  1 2 2 2 2 

Total 135 156 188 198 215 

      

Page 60



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 15 of 26 
 

Nursing Placements 

Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

EMI 15 15 16 23 22 

Old Age 69 60 67 83 100 

Other 20 15 7 5 3 

Learning Disability 1 1 1 1 1 

Mental Illness  0 1 1 0 1 

Physical Disability  2 2 2 3 4 

Total 107 94 94 115 131 

Total placements in 

year 242 250 282 313 346 

      
      

 

Residential Placements as a percentage of population    

Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

Dementia 0.26 0.41 0.73 0.88 0.99 

Old Age 0.41 0.50 0.52 0.57 0.60 

            

Nursing Placements as a percentage of population    

Financial Year 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 

EMI 0.14 0.14 0.15 0.21 0.20 

Old Age 0.65 0.56 0.63 0.75 0.89 

Older People Age Profile and Length of time in a Care Home 

The following tables indicate the average age of people entering care homes and 

how long they remain there (Source reported Performance Management Data for 

Merthyr Tydfil CBC) 

 

Performance Indicator 

The average length of time adults (aged 65 or over) are supported in 

residential care homes  (Standard 2) 

Numerator The sum of the number of days from the admission date to a 

residential care home, to 31 March (people placed after their 

65th birthday and had a care and support plan on 31 March) 

Page 61



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 16 of 26 
 

Denominator The number of people placed in a residential care home on or 

after their 65th birthday and had a care and support plan on 31 

March 

Trend Data 

2014/2015 2015/2016 
2016/2017 

(New) 

2017/2018 

(New)  

2018/2019 

(New)  

N/A N/A 884.97 863.71 732.28 

 

Performance Indicator 

Average age of adults entering residential care homes  (Standard 2) 

Numerator The sum of the ages of each adult entering a residential care 

home during the year 

Denominator The total  number of adults entering residential care homes 

during the year 

Trend Data 

2014/2015 2015/2016 
2016/2017 

(New) 

2017/2018 

(New)  

2018/2019 

(New)  

N/A N/A 80.64 82.58 84.24 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 17 of 26 
 

Supported Accommodation  

 

The table below indicates the number of placements / spaces available in supported 

accommodation purchased by the local authority both within the County Borough 

and out of county.  

 

Supported Accommodation no of placements  

Financial Year 18/19 17/18 16/17 15/16 14/15 

Supported 

Accommodation  63 66 58 51 51 

Shared Lives long 

term placements  12 10 9 8 7 

 

 

Void Levels in supported accommodation  

 

Shared supported accommodation models within the local authority area are often 

difficult to fill due to complex matching processes. Individuals coming through 

transition are also often complex enough that they require specialist individualised 

support which cannot be offered in these traditional models.  

 

A snapshot of void levels within joint funded Supporting People and social care 

learning disability accommodation can be seen in the table below: 

Supported Accommodation Occupancy %  

Financial Year 18/19 17/18 16/17 15/16 14/15 

Occupancy 

levels   75% 88% 88% 95% 100% 

 

The table clearly demonstrates that void levels have increased over time where as 

demand has not reduced year on year. Placements are being sought elsewhere, often 

in high cost out of county placements. In order to be able to continue to meet the needs 

Page 63



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 18 of 26 
 

of individuals within their own locality a different approach to supported 

accommodation is needed.  

 

What do these figures mean? 

Whilst there has been some minor variations in the number of people supported in 

care homes who have a learning disability, mental Illness or physical disability they 

have remained stable as the majority of this customer groups are supported in 

supported living and shared lives placements. There has been an active move to 

support this cohort of people in a more homelike placement wherever possible and the 

increase has been seen in the supported living sector rather than care home sector. 

 

The key areas of change have been within the Older Persons care home placements 

and these suggest that 

 There has been a significant increase in the number of people who require more 

specialist support with their dementia with an increase in EMI placement 

 People are being supported in the community for longer and moving into a care 

home when they are older and staying there for a shorter period of time 

 The number of people supported in “Shared Lives” placements has increased 

 The number of Supported Accommodation placements has increased as this is 

an alternative for more specialist residential  

 Void levels within local shared living supported accommodation has increased 

which demonstrates that local provision is not suitable  

 

Cwm Taf Market Position Statement (MPS) 

A Regional Market Position Statement has been developed in line with the 

requirements of the Social Services Act and this will be refreshed in line with the new 

Cwm Taf Morganwg Regional footprint in 2020. 

 

The Cwm Taf MPS identified the following demand data across the region: 

 

 The population of people aged 65 and over is expected to grow by 30.4% by 

2025, far above the overall growth rate of 2.7% for the population aged 18 and 

Page 64



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 19 of 26 
 

over.  This may have implications both for the number of people requiring care 

in some form and for the number of people in the workforce available to fill 

social care jobs. 

 The population aged 80 and over is forecast to grow by 71.3%.  This older group 

is likely to need more health and social care and support than younger age 

groups. 

 The population aged over 75 with dementia is forecast to grow by 61% to 4,676.  

Demand for dementia care continues to increase across the UK and the need 

for specialised care and support for people with this condition will place 

increasing pressure on the health and social care system. 

 The Cwm Taf area is the most deprived in Wales.  This has consequences for 

council income and the number of self-funders in care homes able to contribute 

to overall funding of the system.  There is also likely to be an impact on levels 

of ill-health, which may result in higher demand for health and social care 

services. 

 44.5% of people in Cwm Taf aged 75 and over live alone.  Within this group, 

those falling ill will be likely to need support in the absence of a partner or some 

other individual providing care.  It may be anticipated that an increasing number 

of people within this group will require residential, nursing or other forms of care 

as they get older. 

 

The MPS also identified the following key messages for care home providers in 

relation to capacity: 

 We expect to commission significantly fewer residential care home placements 

over the next 15 years. 

 We anticipate that developments in community based healthcare services will 

result in fewer people requiring nursing home care. 

 Initially, and until Extra Care models are fully developed, we want to consolidate 

through our commissioning arrangements, more consistent provision of high 

quality dementia care and nursing care in care homes. 

 We would like to work with providers to develop flexible models of short term 

care in care homes to support, for example: 

Page 65



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 20 of 26 
 

o Discharge from hospital 

o Assessment 

o Appropriate reablement interventions 

 

 We currently experience shortages in the provision of local, accessible care 

home placements in the following categories: 

o Younger adults with complex disabilities including brain injuries 

o Adults with a learning disability (especially older people) 

o People under the age of 65 with dementia. 

 

 We want to strengthen or provision of reliable and accessible respite care in 

care homes.  We will consider issuing block contracts for these.  (However this 

will always be predicated in quality and service delivery.) 

 Generally we want to make sure we make best use of capacity that is available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 21 of 26 
 

 

What have we done? 
As a Local Authority we have made progress in developing accommodation services 

for older people and people with a learning disability. We have undertaken the 

following actions prior to the work that is intended to be undertaken by this strategy. 

 Developed a 60 unit Extra Care Scheme. 

 Reduced our in house care home provision for Older People from 4 homes to 

2 purpose built settings.  

 Undertaken an options appraisal of our in house care home provision for Older 

People which resulted in the reduction of placements available at Ty Gurnos 

Newydd from 32 to 16. 

 Further developed our services in the community including bespoke services 

for people with a dementia and support to assist timely discharge from hospital 

through the stay well @ home team. 

 Reviewed and retendered our Learning Disability Supported Accommodation 

contracts to better ensure appropriate care and support is being provided. 

 Increased the use of Shared Lives Placements as an accommodation option 

especially in the younger adult cohort. 

 Revised our in house Learning Disability Accommodation to provide 3 long term 

placements and 2 respite placements. 

 Decommissioned 2 of our Care Homes for People with a Learning Disability 

and commissioned them as supported living properties delivered by 

independent providers.  

 Reviewed the quality of the building at Llysfaen  Learning Disability home and 

undertaken a viability and consultation exercise in terms of moving the provision 

to Ty Gurnos Newydd. 

 In line with our co-productive approach to enhancing services for people with a 

Learning Disability as part of the “Learning Disability Statement of 

Commissioning Intent” we have sought the views of people with a Learning 

Page 67



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 22 of 26 
 

Disability around their priorities in respect of the accommodation needs. This 

will continue and be incorporated into any future plans. 

 Registered our care homes under the new Regulation & Inspection of Social 

Care Act. 

 

As a result of the changes made we have been able to support a greater number of 

individuals within the community. We are now in a position where we are able to 

support complex packages of care at home for longer. This has led to a reduction in 

the percentage of people supported in elderly frail residential care placements as 

those individuals now accessing care outside of their own homes are of greater need 

and complexity. This has influenced our thinking in terms of the direction of travel for 

the reconfiguration of our care homes and further developments with home care 

services to support more complex individuals.   

Page 68



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 23 of 26 
 

Where we need to be 
Whilst progress has been made we recognise that we need to continue adapt our 

accommodation services in line with the changing needs of the People of Merthyr 

Tydfil CBC. 

 Retain an element of in-house provision to provide specialist services to higher 

needs ensuring full utilisation of all bed spaces. 

 Commission a mixture of accommodation to meet the needs of EMI Nursing, 

General Nursing, EMI Residential and Elderly Frail residential in a way that best 

meets the needs of our community. 

 Extend and improve our accommodation options for older people and people 

with a learning disability including plans to develop an additional extra care 

facility. 

 Explore alternative options of accommodation for our citizens with a learning 

disability ensuring we are meeting the following priorities co-produced with 

people with learning disabilities: 

o More choice of where I live and who I live with 

o Quiet spaces in supported living houses 

o I want to make my own choices good or bad  

o More house staff for increased opportunities 

o Having my own key to my own home 

o It’s my home not an office 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 24 of 26 
 

How do we get there and what are 

the benefits? 
We are committed to undertake the following: 

 

 Work regionally to expand the care home offer for specialist services in line with 

the refresh of the market position statement. This will ensure that we are better 

placed to meet the needs of our citizens to ensure wherever possible we are 

able to support them to meet their needs. 

 

 Develop a new extra care scheme with a focus on 18+ including an enhanced 

offer for people with a learning disability to enable them to meet their personal 

outcomes and live independently in the community for longer, reducing our 

dependency on group homes and residential care.  

 

 Review all Learning Disability contracts to ensure they are meeting the priorities 

set out by people living with a learning disability ensuring that the voice of 

people living with a learning disability is imbedded in our contracting and 

enabling more choice and control over the services available.  

 

 Relocate Llysfaen to more appropriate premises ensuring a more future proof 

in-house residential and respite provision for People with a Learning Disability.  

 

 Work to improve collaboration between departments and partners to include 

active participation on the strategic housing group ensuring that we ca jointly 

work to support our citizens to achieve their full potential. 

  

Page 70



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 25 of 26 
 

Key Milestones 
We aim to meet the following key milestones through the implementation of this 

strategy: 

 2020 - Relocate our learning disability care home to more appropriate premises 

to a wing at Ty Gurnos Newydd; 

 

 2021 – Revise the Older Persons provision at Ty Gurnos to provide support for 

people with a dementia; 

 

 2021 – Create a clear commissioning plan for our citizens living with a learning 

disability; 

 

 2022 – Agree and implement a new regional approach to specialist 

accommodation services; and 

 

 2020 - 2025 – Work in partnership with Housing Colleagues to commission and 

complete the build of the new extra care facility adjacent to the Keir Hardie 

Health Park Site. 

 

 

 

  

Page 71



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  
 

 
 

Page 26 of 26 
 

Appendix 1 
 

 “Our Shared Vision” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached work programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 28th February 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 10th March 2020 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 74



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 75



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 76



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

17th April 2019 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 17th April 2019  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s44203/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


  

APPENDIX I 

Page 78



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Date / Timing 
PROPOSED 

Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 
Member  

Scrutiny Focus  

11th June 2019 

Annual Forward Work 
Programme (2019/20) 

Cllr. Bill Smith and 
Social Services Scrutiny 
Committee Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To consider and approve the Forward Work Programme for Social 
Services (2019/2020). 

Young Carers Annual 
Report (2018/19) 
 

Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Summary report providing a position statement on the 
performance within 2018/19, along with any details of issues/barriers experienced and 
how these have been overcome. The report is also to consider key areas for development 
and improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 

Safeguarding Board 
Annual Report and 
Plan (2018/19) 

Nicola Kingham and 
officers / Jon Eyre / Cllr 
Chris Davies 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide a summary of the 2018/19 Safeguarding Board Annual 
Regional Plan and also identify the key areas of improvement going forward both 
regionally and in Merthyr Tydfil. 

9th July 2019 

Cwm Taf Youth 
Offending Service 
(YOS) Annual Report  
(2018/19) 

Annabel Lloyd / 
Lyndon Lewis  

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Youth Offending Service (YOS) is a multi-agency team which is 
made up of members of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, Substance Misuse and 
Social Services; as well as other specific to the team.  The YOS deals with young people 
between the ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice system and those 
who are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system. The Cwm Taf Youth 
Offending Service (YOS) last presented a progress update report to scrutiny on 24th July 
2018 based on the Post Inspection Action Plan.   
 
The committee requires a position statement on the performance within the Cwm Taf 
region (2018/19), along with any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these 
have been overcome. The report is also to consider key areas for development and 
improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Reconfiguration of 
Homes 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / 
Chris Davies/ Lowri 
Morgan / Angela 
Edevane  

Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to include an update and feedback from the recent 
consultation and a detailed plan prior to its submission to Full Council.   
 

ACRF - Annual Report 
on Social Services 
(2018/19) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr 
Chris Davis / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 
/ Lorna Townsend  

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Draft ACRF was brought to Scrutiny on 7th May 2019 to provide 
comment and challenge as a part of the Consultation process. This report should contain 
all further updates from any additional consultation and previous comments made by 
Scrutiny, before submitting to Full Council.  
 

P
age 79



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Mental Health 
Inspection (2019/20?) 
Feedback Report 

Angela Edevane / 
Alyson Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The report should consider the strengths and development areas 
highlighted within the recent Mental Health Inspection feedback report, and also to 
consider key areas for improvement within Merthyr Tydfil for 2019/20. 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

17th September 2019 

Mid-year update on 
Social Services 
Complaints, 
Representations and 
Compliments Report.  
 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Local Authorities are required to the Social Services Complaints 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services 
Complaints, Representations and Compliments Policy and Procedures.  
 
The annual report (2018/19) was presented to Scrutiny on 12th March 2019. The 
committee has requested a mid-year (2019/20) report be brought back for consideration 
and challenge. The committee expects further information on complaints within the 
report (e.g. the areas the complaints were made, what processes etc. has been 
changed/introduced in order to reduce the number of complaints etc.).  
 

Adult Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q2/mid-year update 

Angela Edevane/Lowri 
Morgan 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a mid-year update on 
strategies applicable to Adult Social Services. 
 

A mid-year update on 
Cwm Taf Integrated 
Family Support Team 
(IFST) (2019/20) 
This report is no longer 
required as MTCBC has 
withdrawn from this 
collaboration (agreed 
by Chair on 5th Aug 
2019).   

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide a regional mid-year position statement on the Cwm Taf 
IFST services, and also provide an update on the Edge of Care Service (EOC) within MTCBC. 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 1: 
Outcomes 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify 
and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to 
the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to 

P
age 80



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

8th October 2019 

Children Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q2/mid-year update 
 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a mid-year update on 
strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services. 
 

Budget Position 
Statement (2019/20) 
Q2/mid-year update 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr 
Chris Davies / Stacey 
Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny providing an update on 
Social Services budget for Quarter 1 and Quarter 2, areas of likely overspend and the 
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within the 
department.    

A mid-year update on 
the Safeguarding 
Board Annual Report 
and Plan (2019/20) 

Nicola Kingham and 
officers / Jon Eyre / Cllr 
Chris Davies 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To provide a summary of the 2018/19 Safeguarding Board Annual 
Regional Plan and also identify the key areas of improvement going forward both 
regionally and in Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

10th December 2019 
17th December 2019 

Vale, Valleys And 
Cardiff Adoption 
Collaborative (VVC) 
Annual Report 
(2018/19) and 
2019/20 Merthyr 
Tydfil update  
This has been deferred 
to 10th March 2020. 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to provide a regional annual position summary 
(2018/19) along with a current position update on this service within Merthyr Tydfil 
(2019/20). 
 

SS&WB Regional Plan 
– progress update 
(2019/20) 
Q2/mid-year update 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to provide a regional annual position summary 
(2018/19) along with a current position update on this service within Merthyr Tydfil 
(2019/20). 
 

P
age 81



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

A mid-year update on 
Young Carers 
 

Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny with a mid-year update on 
Carers Strategy and the impact it is having on the Young Carers.  Details should also be 
provided on any issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome or how 
you plan to overcome them.  

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 2: 
Outcomes 
This has been deferred 
to 21st January 2020 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify 
and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to 
the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to 
scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

21st January 2020 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 2: 
Provision and Service 
delivery 
This has been deferred 
from 17th December 
2019 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify 
and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to 
the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to 
scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

Adult Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q3 update 

Angela Edevane Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a mid-year update on 
strategies applicable to Adult Social Services. 
 

Corporate Parenting 
Update 

Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  To provide data and performance in relation to Corporate 
Parenting 

Budget Position 
Statement (2019/20) 
update 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Cllr 
Chris Davies / Stacey 
Evans 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny providing an update on 
Social Services budget for Quarter 1, 2 and 3, and areas of likely overspend and the 
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within the 
department.  This report should also give any details of issues/barriers experienced and 
how these have been overcome. 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 82



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

10th March 2020 

Children Services 
Strategies (2019/20)  
Q3/end of year update 
 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a Quarter 3/end of year 
update on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services. 
 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 3: 
Outcomes 
Due to Storm Dennis, 
this item has been 
deferred to 5th May (as 
agreed by the Chair on 
20th February)  

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify 
and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to 
the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to 
scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

Vale, Valleys And 
Cardiff Adoption 
Collaborative (VVC) 
Annual Report 
(2018/19) and 
2019/20 Merthyr 
Tydfil update  
This has been deferred 
from 17th December 
2019. 

Annabel Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to provide a regional annual position summary 
(2018/19) along with a current position update on this service within Merthyr Tydfil 
(2019/20). 
 

Adult Services 
Accommodation 
Strategy For 
Older People And 
Adults With A Learning 
Disability 
2020-2030 
This report has been 
requested by the 
officer and agreed by 
the Chair on 30th 
January 2020, to be 
placed on this agenda. 

Angela Edevane Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Draft Adult Services Accommodation Strategy For 
Older People And Adults With A Learning Disability 2020-2030 is to be presented at 
scrutiny to provide comment and challenge as a part of the Consultation process. This 
report should contain all further updates from any additional consultation and comments 
made by Scrutiny where possible, before submitting to Full Council. 

P
age 83



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

5th May 2020 

Annual Complaints 
Report (2019/20) 
End of year update 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Local Authorities are required to the Social Services Complaints 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services 
Complaints, Representations and Compliments Policy and Procedures.  
 
A mid-year report (2019/20) was presented to Scrutiny in September 2019. The 
committee has requested an end of year report (2019/20) for consideration and 
challenge. The report should include any details of issues/barriers experienced and how 
these have been overcome. The report is also to identify key areas for development and 
improvement for 2020/21. 

ACRF Report (2019/20) 
(consultation) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following a consultation workshop with Scrutiny Members; a 
report summarising key messages from the Annual Report on Social Services 2019/2020 
will be presented for information. 
 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 3: 
Outcomes 
Due to Storm Dennis, 
this item has been 
deferred from 10th 
March (as agreed by 
the Chair on 20th 
February) 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Angela Edevane 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify 
and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to 
the first of the key questions, which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to 
scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

LAC Work (Welsh 
Government visit)  

This would be better delivered in the form of a presentation when the information is available. 
 

P
age 84



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Fostering Inspection 
Report  and Fostering 
Framework Report  
 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Advocacy Annual 
Report  
 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Self Evaluation Reports  Early indication would suggest there are three reports throughout the scrutiny cycle (1 report per SER question). 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Possibility of a Joint 
Scrutiny with Learning 
and LGES  

Possible topics to consider:  

 Educational Achievements of Children Looked After (CLA) and Care Leavers; 

 Tackling Poverty; 

 Community Zones; and 

 Early Years Learning. 

 Violence against 
Women Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Annual 
report 2018/19) 

Lisa Curtis-Jones  
/ Annabel Lloyd / 
Cllr Chris Davies / 
Deborah Evans 
(SMT) / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is a member of the Cwm Taf 
Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Steering Group, 
which is the lead partnership taking forward the Cwm Taf regions implementation of the 
Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015. 
 

The Committee would like to receive a summary report providing a position statement on 
‘Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence’ within the Cwm Taf region 
(2018/19). The report should include any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these 
have been overcome. The report is also to consider key areas for development and 
improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) Annual Report for 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	4 Children’s Services Strategy
	5 Adult Services Accommodation Strategy for Older People and Adults with a Learning Disability
	Appendix

	6 Forward Work Programme 2019/20
	Appendix


